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SUBJECT: EEA/NORWAY GRANTS 

DEAR DR. GAÁL, 

Amnesty International has noted with concern recent actions of the Hungarian government with regard 
to the disbursal of the EEA/Norway Grants NGO fund. I am writing to seek your input regarding several 
questions which arise in connection with this, so that the viewpoint of the Government Accountability 
Office (KEHI) may be fairly reflected in Amnesty International’s public work on this issue.  

As you know, the right to freedom of association is guaranteed by Hungarian law and by international 
and regional treaties to which Hungary is a party. The United Nations Special Rapporteur on the rights 
to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association, Maina Kiai, has noted that the ability to access 
foreign or international funds is central to the realization of the right to freedom of association, and 
called on states “[t]o adopt measures to protect individuals and associations against defamation, 
disparagement, undue audits and other attacks in relation to funding they allegedly received.”1 In 
addition, the UN Human Rights Council – in a resolution co-sponsored by Hungary - has called on 
states “to ensure that provisions on funding to civil society are in compliance with their international 
human rights obligations and commitments and are not misused to hinder the work or endanger the 
safety of civil society actors, and underlines the importance of the rights and ability to solicit, receive 
and utilize resources for its work.”2 

THE INVESTIGATION 

Amnesty International understands that in June 2014, the Prime Minister’s Office ordered the KEHI to 
carry out an audit of NGOs involved in distributing and receiving the EEA/Norway NGO grants. Both the 
Norwegian government and the NGOs in question contested the legality of the audit, since the funds 
are not part of the Hungarian state budget and authority to conduct or order audits of the grants is 
allocated to a Financial Mechanism Office in Brussels under bilateral agreements between Hungary and 
Norway.3 In September, the KEHI initiated procedures to suspend the tax numbers of the four NGOs 
involved in distribution of Norway Grants. The Government Control Office justified these measures with 
reference to the groups’ alleged non-cooperation with the government-imposed audit. The NGOs denied 

1
Report of the Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association, Maina Kiai, [hereinafter Special Rapporteur’s Report] 

http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session23/A.HRC.23.39_EN.pdf. 
2 HRC Resolution on Civil Society Space, A/HRC/27/L.24, para. 10. 

3 Source: https://norvegcivilalap.hu/sites/default/files/dokumentumok/how_the_kehi_abuses_its_official_powers.pdf 
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these allegations. In October, the KEHI released a report based on its audit, and announced it would 
seek criminal sanctions against several NGOs.  

SEEKING CLARIFICATION 

We would like to seek clarification on the following issues: 

 The Prime Minister, as well as members of his office and the government, have made numerous
statements alleging that NGOs involved with the EEA/Norway grants are paid political activists
serving the interests of foreign powers, or of specific opposition political parties in Hungary. Given
that the KEHI undertook its audit due to an order from the Prime Minister’s Office (under Para.
11(3) of Government Decree 355/2011) and that the President of the KEHI may be appointed and
dismissed by the Prime Minister’s office (under Para. 4.1 of the same Decree), what guarantees
exist to safeguard the independence of the audit and to protect against undue political influence,
or the appearance thereof?

 Certain aspects of the written audit report also raise questions about the impartiality of the audit.
In places, evidence of seeming wrongdoing is presented, but publicly-known evidence to the
contrary is not mentioned. For example:
 An audit by the firm Ernst & Young is cited four times as having found irregularities in the

disbursal of funds, or potential conflicts of interests. However, the audit report nowhere
indicates the conclusion of this report – which is publicly available - that despite “some
issues,” the selection of sub-projects was transparent.

 Allegations of unlicensed financial activities – a criminal offense – are made in the audit report
against the Ökotárs foundation despite there being no indication these alleged activities are
related to the subject of the audit – the disbursal of the EEA/Norway grants. Despite this,
publicly reported information that would seem relevant to these charges, such as that the
Ökotárs foundation reportedly notified the Financial Supervisory Authority of this practice, was
not included in the audit report.

 In light of the above – what rules or practices exist to ensure the impartial presentation of audit
findings by the KEHI? Are there rules or policies which mandate equal treatment and public
disclosure of evidence that tends to show wrongdoing as well as that which tends to disprove or
mitigate wrongdoing?

 Under international human rights standards, restrictions on the right to freedom of association
must be the least intrusive option among those available. The KEHI states that it has initiated the
suspension of tax registration numbers of organizations which have allegedly failed in their duty to
cooperate with the audit under Para. 65(1) of Act CXCV of 2011.  However, this paragraph
envisages a less severe – and thus less intrusive – sanction for non-cooperation, specifically the
imposition of a fine.

Can you please explain, why was the decision made to resort to the more severe penalty, one which 
poses a greater risk to the right of freedom of association? 

We further seek clarifications on the following: 

 Does the authority of the KEHI to audit the disbursal of funds by NGOs extend to funds from
foreign states that do not arise as a result of treaties with Hungary? If so, under what conditions?

 Would the KEHI be authorised to audit the disbursal of funds from private donors by NGOs? If so,
under what conditions?

We would like to inform you that a copy of this letter has also been sent to the Office of the Prime 
Minister.  

We would welcome a response from you at your very earliest convenience and no later than by 8 
December 2014... 
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Thank you very much for your cooperation. 

Yours Sincerely, 

John Dalhuisen 
Director, Europe and Central Asia Programme 
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